IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

SHERRI BOSESKI,

Appellant.



COURT OF APPEALS

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Christine Pomeroy

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

COREY E. PARKER Attorney for Appellant

LAW OFFICE OF COREY EVAN PARKER 1001 Fourth Avenue Plaza, Suite 3200 Seattle, Washington 98154 (206)-682-3655

A.	SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
B.	ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR4,5
C.	ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR5,6
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE6,7,8,9,10
E.	ARGUMENT10
	1. Ms. Boseski's Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea Was Not Time Barred Because of Equitable Tolling10,11,12,13
	2. Ms. Boseski's Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea Was Not Time Barred Because of New Evidence
	3. The Court's Acceptance of Ms. Boseski's Guilty Plea Constitutes Manifest Injustice14, 15
	4. Ms. Boseski's Guilty Plea Was Not Knowingly Intelligently and Voluntarily Entered Because It Lacks a Factual Basis
	5. Ms. Boseski Did Not Plead Guilty to the Elements of RCW 9A.36.021 (c) and Notice of Criminal Elements of the Offense is required
	6. Ms. Boseski's Plea was not Knowing, Voluntary, and Intelligent When Ms. Boseski Lacked Competency at Arraignment
	7. Acceptance of Ms. Boseski's Plea While She Was Mentally Ill and Unable to Understand the Charges, Constituted Manifest Injustice
	8. Ms. Boseski Received Ineffective Assistance From Counsel Causing Manifest Injustice

F. CONCLUSION......37

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Supreme Court Cases

In re Keene, 95 Wash. 2d 203, 209, 622 P.2d 360 (1980)16, 18, 20
<i>In re Personal Restraint Petition of Crabtree</i> , 141 Wn.2d 577, 585, 9 P.3d 814 (2000)
In re Personal Restraint of Fleming, 142 Wn.2d 853, 861, 16 P.3d 610 (2000)25,26,27
<i>In re Personal Restraint of Soudmire</i> , 141 Wn.2d 342, 346, 5 P.3d 1240 (2000)11
State v. Dodd, 70 Wn.2d 513, 514, 424 P.2d 302 (1967)
State v. Osborne, 102 Wn.2d 87, 99, 684 P.2d 683 (1984)35
State v. Marshall, 144 Wn.2d 266, 281, 27 P.3d 192 (2001)
State v. Mendoza, 157 Wash.2d 582, 589, 141 P.3d 49 (2006)14
State v. Ross, 129 Wash.2d 279, 287, 916 P.2d 405 (1996)14
State v. Saas, 118 Wn.2d 37, 42, 820 P.2d 505 (1991)14
State v. Taylor, 83 Wn. 2d 564, 596, 521 P.2d 699 (1974)14
State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225, 743 P.2d 816 (1987)
State v. Wicklund, 96 Wn.2d 798, 805, 638 P.2d 1241 1982)

Washington Court of Appeals Cases

State v. Armstead, 13 Wash. App. 59, 63-65, 533 P.2d 147 (1975)32
State v. Calvert, 79 Wash.App. 569, 576, 903 P.2d 1003 (1995)32
State v. Durham, 16 Wash.App 648, 653, 559 P.2d 567 (1977)19
State v. Golden, 112 Wn. App. 68, 78, 47 P.3d 587 (2002)
State v. Gordon, 39 Wn. App. 437, 441, 693 P.2d 741 (1985)31
State v. Kiper, No. 30760-0
State v. McCollum, 88 Wn.App. 977, 983, 947 P.2d 1235 (1997)22
State v. Iredale, 16 Wash. App. 53, 533 P.2d 1112 (1976)
State v. Rigsby, 49 Wn. App. 912, 914-915, 747 P.2d 472 (1987)
State v. Schwab, 141 Wn.App. 85, 91, 167 P.3d 1225, 1228 (2008)11
State v. Zumalt, 79 Wn. App. 124, 901 P.2d 319 (1995)14, 18, 21
United States Supreme Court Cases
Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 243, 89 S. Ct. 1079, 23 L.ED.2d 274 (1969)
Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S. 402, 80 S. Ct. 788, 4 L.ED 2d 824 (1960)25
Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162, 171, 95 S.Ct. 896, 43 L.Ed.2d 103 (1975)
Henderson v. Morgan, 426 U.S. 637, 647, 96 S.Ct. 2253, 2258, 49 L.Ed.2d 108 (1976)23
(1//0)

<i>McCarthy v. United States</i> , 394 U.S. 459, 467, 89 S.Ct. 1166, 1171, 22 L.Ed.2d 418,
426
Santobello v. New York, 404 U.S. 257, 92 S.Ct, 495, 30 L.Ed. 2d 427 (1971)
Schwab v. Wash., 129 S.Ct. 1348, (2009)11
<u>Statutes</u>
RCW 10.73.11011, 12, 13
RCW 10.77.06025
RCW 9A.36.021 (a)
RCW 9A.36.021 (c)20
CrR 4.2(d)19
Fed R. Crim. P. 11
Constitutional Provisions
U.S. Const. Amend V15
U.S. Const. Amend XIV15
U.S. Const. Art. I, Sec. 3
U.S. Const. Art Leac 22

A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

On January 8, 2009, the Tumwater Police Department received a report that a domestic dispute was heard coming from Ms. Boseski's apartment. Officers were dispatched to the apartment and knocked on Ms. Boseski's door. Ms. Boseski came to the door with a gun in her hand and the police tased her. CP 6.

The prosecution alleged that Ms. Boseski pointed her gun at the police. Ms. Boseski adamantly denies this allegation. She told her defense attorney, after her arrest and throughout her arraignment and plea negotiations, that she never pointed a gun at the police officers. CP 127.

The prosecution alleges that Ms. Boseski fought with the police officers after she recovered from the tasering.

The EMS assessment stated that she was suffering from a psychiatric disorder. CP 134. The police transported Ms. Boseski to jail, where she was booked and held. The EMS Report, asserts that she was transported to Providence St. Peter Hospital, but this is incorrect. She was taken straight to jail. CP 135.

On January 8, 2009, following Ms. Boseski's arrest, the court found probable cause for a charge of first-degree assault, based on the prosecution's assertion that Ms. Boseski allegedly said she would have shot the police officers if they had entered her home. CP 141, lines 23 and

24. Ms. Boseski was in jail and watched the hearing from a video monitor. Attorney Eric Pilon appeared on her behalf.

The deputy prosecutor asked the court to order a "safe-to-be-at large" evaluation, because "the State has got mental health concerns here...[due to] the fact that there wasn't anybody [else] in the apartment, that she was screaming and yelling as if somebody was there[.]" The Court ordered the evaluation. CP 143, lines 7-14.; CP 144, lines 20-21.

A second preliminary hearing was held on January 12, 2009, while Ms. Boseski still was in jail. Contrary to what is indicated on the transcript, Ms. Boseski was not present at this arraignment as evidenced by the fact that she made no statements and was not addressed by the judge. CP 151. She was again represented by Eric Pilon. Both prosecution and defense counsel asked for a referral to Lisa Kertzman at the jail, to work out special release conditions to address Ms. Boseski's mental health problems. CP 152, lines 18-25; CP 153, lines 1-2. The Court noted that the "safe-to-be-at large evaluation indicates concern about [Ms. Boseski's] safety and the safety of others, unless she is under controlled circumstances." CP 151, lines 14-21. Deputy Prosecutor Wheeler told the Court that charges had been filed for assault second in the degree with a deadly weapon, and assault in the third degree. CP 154,

lines 19-23. The Court set bail at \$25,000, with return to court for special conditions, if posted. CP 154, lines 8-9.

Ms. Boseski appeared before Judge Gary Tabor on January 14, 2009, represented by Eric Pilon. As conditions of release from jail, the court ordered that she take any prescribed medications and that Pretrial Services provide supervision. CP 165, lines 7-9; lines 19-23. Ms. Boseski was then transferred to Madigan Army Medical Center for inpatient psychological evaluation. She remained there until her release approximately three weeks later. CP 169. Subsequent to her release she was ordered to be confined on base by Judge Tabor without any military hearing.

On February 10, 2009, Ms. Boseski appeared in court for arraignment, represented by attorney Kevin Trombold. Mr. Trombold acknowledged receipt of the information, waived formal reading, and entered a plea of "not guilty" to Counts I and II, on Ms. Boseski's behalf. CP 173, lines 12-14; CP 175, lines 22-24.

On June 22, 2009, the defendant entered a plea of guilty to assault in the second degree and assault in the third degree; she was again represented by Kevin Trombold. CP 177.

As part of the plea bargain, the State agreed to dismiss the firearm enhancement. Ms. Boseski was never arraigned on the amended charge of

Assault in the Second Degree. CP 191. The plea agreement which Ms. Boseski signed states that "On January 8, 2009 in Thurston County, I intentionally assaulted a person and inflicted (recklessly) substantial bodily harm." CP 184 Ms. Boseski denies that she inflicted substantial bodily harm on either of the officers who came to her apartment. The record contains no evidence that defendant inflicted substantial bodily harm on anyone. The Judgment and Sentence reflected that Ms. Boseski plead guilty to RCW 9A.36.021 (c) involving assault with a deadly weapon when the language reflected in the plea agreement cites RCW 9A.36.021 (a). CP 184.

The plea language in paragraph 11 of the plea form asking what she did in her own words merely recited the Assault 2 and Assault 3 statutes and gives a legal conclusion, rather than a factual basis for the plea as is required by CrR4.2(d). CP 184.

After serving her full sentence of six-and-a-half months in prison, defendant was released. She now lives in New Jersey. This Court should reverse and remand for a new trial.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Ms. Boseski's plea was not knowing, voluntary and intelligent, because she suffered from mental illness.

- 2. The trial court erred in accepting the guilty plea because pursuant to CrR 4.2(d), the trial court did not have before it at the time of the plea hearing a sufficient factual basis upon which to accept defendant's guilty plea.
 - 3. Ms. Boseski was denied effective assistance of counsel.

C. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

- 1. Does the doctrine of equitable tolling apply, so that the defendant's motion to vacate her guilty plea and sentence are not time-barred, even though the motion is filed more than one year after the court filed her guilty plea?
- 2. Does the doctrine of equitable tolling apply to the defendant's motion, because the trial court failed to inform the defendant about the one-year time limit for moving to vacate her plea, as required by RCW .

 10.73.110 and there is new evidence?
- 3. Should the court vacate defendant's plea on the ground that it was not knowing, voluntary and intelligent, because she suffered from severe mental illness?
- 4. Should the court vacate defendant's plea on the ground that she did not understand the charges against her, and therefore acceptance of the plea constituted manifest injustice?

- 5. Should the court vacate defendant's plea because counsel mistakenly informed her that the State had charged her with first degree assault and third degree assault, when actually the State had charged her with second degree assault with a deadly weapon and third degree assault?
- 6. Should the court allow defendant to withdraw her plea, on the grounds that counsel was ineffective?
- 7. Should the defendant be allowed to withdraw her guilty plea, because it was based on defense counsel's erroneous advice that the State had charged her with first degree assault, when in fact the charge was second degree assault with a deadly weapon?
- 8. Should the defendant be allowed to withdraw her guilty plea because pursuant to CrR 4.2(d), the trial court did not have before it at the time of the plea hearing a sufficient factual basis upon which to accept defendant's guilty plea, nor was she informed of the rights that she was waiving?
- 9. Should the defendant be allowed to withdraw her guilty plea because she was never arraigned on the charges that she faced?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 8, 2009, the Tumwater Police Department received a report that a domestic dispute was heard coming from Ms. Boseski's apartment. Officers were dispatched to the apartment and knocked on Ms.

Boseski's door. Ms. Boseski came to the door with a gun in her hand and the police tased her. CP 6.

The prosecution alleged that Ms. Boseski pointed her gun at the police. Ms. Boseski adamantly denies this allegation. She told her defense attorney, after her arrest and throughout her arraignment and plea negotiations, that she never pointed a gun at the police officers. CP 127.

The prosecution alleges that Ms. Boseski fought with the police officers after she recovered from the tasering.

The EMS assessment stated that she was suffering from a psychiatric disorder. CP 134. The police transported Ms. Boseski to jail, where she was booked and held. The EMS Report, asserts that she was transported to Providence St. Peter Hospital, but this is incorrect. CP 135.

On January 8, 2009, following Ms. Boseski's arrest, the court found probable cause for a charge of first-degree assault, based on the prosecution's assertion that Ms. Boseski allegedly said she would have shot the police officers if they had entered her home. CP 141, lines 23 and 24. Ms. Boseski was in jail and watched the hearing from a video monitor. Attorney Eric Pilon appeared on her behalf.

The deputy prosecutor asked the court to order a "safe-to-be-at large" evaluation, because "the State has got mental health concerns here...[due to] the fact that there wasn't anybody [else] in the apartment,

that she was screaming and yelling as if somebody was there[.]" The Court ordered the evaluation. CP 143, lines 7-14.; CP 144, lines 20-21.

A second preliminary hearing was held on January 12, 2009, while Ms. Boseski still was in jail. Contrary to what is indicated on the transcript, Ms. Boseski was not present at this arraignment as evidenced by the fact that she made no statements and was not addressed by the judge. CP 151. She was again represented by Eric Pilon. Both prosecution and defense counsel asked for a referral to Lisa Kertzman at the jail, to work out special release conditions to address Ms. Boseski's mental health problems. CP 152, lines 18-25; CP 153, lines 1-2). The Court noted that the "safe-to-be-at large evaluation indicates concern about [Ms. Boseski's] safety and the safety of others, unless she is under controlled circumstances." CP 151, lines 14-21. Deputy Prosecutor Wheeler told the Court that charges had been filed for assault second in the degree with a deadly weapon, and assault in the third degree. CP 154, lines 19-23. The Court set bail at \$25,000, with return to court for special conditions, if posted. CP 154, lines 8-9).

Ms. Boseski appeared before Judge Gary Tabor on January 14, 2009, represented by Eric Pilon. As conditions of release from jail, the court ordered that she take any prescribed medications and that Pretrial Services provide supervision. CP 165, lines 7-9; lines 19-23. Ms. Boseski

was then transferred to Madigan Army Medical Center for inpatient psychological evaluation. She remained there until her release approximately three weeks later. CP 169.

On February 10, 2009, Ms. Boseski appeared in court for arraignment, represented by attorney Kevin Trombold. Mr. Trombold acknowledged receipt of the information, waived formal reading, and entered a plea of "not guilty" to Counts I and II, on Ms. Boseski's behalf. CP 173, lines 12-14; CP 175, lines 22-24.

On June 22, 2009, the defendant entered a plea of guilty to assault in the second degree and assault in the third degree; she was again represented by Kevin Trombold. CP 177.

As part of the plea bargain, the State agreed to dismiss the firearm enhancement. Ms. Boseski was never arraigned on the amended charge of Assault in the Second Degree. CP 191. The plea agreement which Ms. Boseski signed states that "On January 8, 2009 in Thurston County, I intentionally assaulted a person and inflicted (recklessly) substantial bodily harm." Ms. Boseski denies that she inflicted substantial bodily harm on either of the officers who came to her apartment. The record contains no evidence that defendant inflicted substantial bodily harm on anyone. The Judgment and Sentence reflected that Ms. Boseski plead guilty to RCW 9A.36.021 (c) involving assault with a deadly weapon

when the language reflected in the plea agreement cites RCW 9A.36.021 (a).

The plea language in paragraph 11 of the plea form asking what she did in her own words merely recited the Assault 2 and Assault 3 statutes and gives a legal conclusion, rather than a factual basis for the plea as is required by CrR4.2(d). CP 184.

After serving her full sentence of six-and-a-half months in prison, defendant was released. She now lives in New Jersey. This Court should reverse and remand for a new trial.

She was told by Counsel to swiftly sign the judgment and sentence, but never had the opportunity to read it and never received a copy of it.

E. ARGUMENT

A. Ms. Boseski's Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea was not Time Barred Because of Equitable Tolling.

CrR 7.8(b)(2) and (5) provide:

On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may relieve a party from final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons:

- (2) Newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under rule 7.5;
- (5) Any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment.

CrR 7.8 further requires:

"the motion shall be made within a reasonable time and for [reason in subsection(b)(2)] not more than 1 year after the judgment, order, or proceeding was entered or taken, and is further subject to RCW 10.73.090, .100, .130, and .140."

RCW 10.73.090 provides that a motion for collateral attack on a judgment and sentence in a criminal case may not be filed more than one year after the judgment becomes final if the judgment and sentence is valid on its face and was rendered by a court of competent jurisdiction.

RCW 10.73.100 enumerates specific reasons why the collateral attack may be brought outside the one-year time bar. If a petition is based on grounds not listed in RCW 10.73.100, the petition is subject to the one-year time bar of RCW 10.73.090 unless it qualifies under the exceptions to the time bar in RCW 10.73.090 itself. *In re Personal Restraint of Stoudmire*, 141 Wn.2d 342, 346, 5 P.3d 1240 (2000).

Washington law also recognizes equitable exceptions to the time bar of RCW 10.73.090. "When a statute requires that a court or DOC notify a defendant of a time bar and the notice is not given, this omission creates an exemption to the time bar and a court, therefore, must treat the defendant's position for collateral review as timely." *State v. Schwab*, 141 Wn.App. 85, 91, 167 P.3d 1225, 1228, *rev. den.* 164 Wn.2d 1009, 195 P.3d 86 (2008), *cert. denied* by *Schwab v. Wash.*, 129 S.Ct. 1348, (2009). RCW 10.73.110 requires the court to advise the defendant of the time

limit. The one-year time limit of RCW 10.73.090(1) for collateral attack on a judgment and sentence is conditioned on the court's compliance with RCW 10.73.110, requiring notice of its terms. *State v. Golden*, 112 Wn. App. 68, 78, 47 P.3d 587 (2002). "RCW 10.73.110 is unambiguous. It imposes the duty that the court shall advise the defendant at the time judgment and sentence is pronounced in a criminal case of the time limit specified in RCW 10.73.090. The general rule of statutory interpretation is that 'shall' is imperative." *Id.*, 112 Wn. App. at 78, *citations omitted*.

In *Golden*, the defendant filed his motion to vacate more than eight years after his guilty plea was entered, on the ground that the juvenile court which sentenced Mr. Golden, did not enter a written finding of capacity. Furthermore, it never informed Mr. Golden of his right to collaterally challenge the conviction, nor of the one-year time limit. *Golden*, 112 Wn. App. at 71.

The trial court granted Mr. Golden's motion to vacate the guilty plea, and the Court of Appeals affirmed. It held that eight and one-half years was not an unreasonable delay in seeking relief from judgment and granted the motion to withdraw the plea. *Golden*, 112 Wn.App. at 78.

In this case, the court accepted Ms. Boseski's guilty plea and entered a sentence without advising her, in writing or orally, of the one-year time limit in which to collaterally attack the sentence. A careful

review of the plea statement which Ms. Boseski signed shows that it did not advise her of the one-year time limit for a motion to withdraw the plea. CP 177 – CP 185. The report of proceeding for the sentencing hearing also shows that the court did not inform Ms. Boseski of the one-year time limit. CP 196-216. Ms. Boseski never had the opportunity to read the judgment and sentence and it was never addressed by the judge or her counsel. CP 127.

B. Ms. Boseski's Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea was not Time Barred Because of New Evidence.

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