No. 42441-0-II

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### **DIVISION TWO**

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

SHERRI A. BOSESKI,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Christine Pomeroy, Judge Cause No. 09-1-00034-8

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

Carol La Verne Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

###

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

Similarly, in <u>Clark</u>, the defendant argued "that examination of his guilty plea reveals that he was improperly informed about the consequences of his plea, thus making the judgment and sentence invalid on its face." <u>Id</u>. at 586. Citing <u>Hemenway</u>, the <u>Clark</u> court rejected the defendant's arguments: "Clark's judgment and sentence correctly reflects the law. Even though Clark's plea agreement may be flawed, those flaws do not render his judgment and sentence facially invalid." <u>Id</u>. at 587.

<u>Clark</u> also rejected the defendant's claim that the order amending his judgment and sentence is void because he was denied the due process rights of notice, an opportunity to be heard, and the right of counsel—reasoning that such a determination requires the court to go beyond the face of the judgment and sentence. <u>Id</u>. The <u>Clark</u> court refused to consider an affidavit, some declarations, and other documentary evidence that the defendant provided: "[I]f Clark must resort to external documents in

the hope of rendering his judgment and sentence invalid, then the judgment and sentence cannot be invalid on its face." <u>Id</u>. at 587-88.

In this case, Boseski's judgment and sentence was final on July 9, 2009, CP 68-69, and Boseski did not file her motion to withdraw her guilty plea until July 7, 2011, 7/711 RP 3—almost two years later. Because motions made under CrR 7.8(b) in superior court are subject to the same limitations that apply to PRPs, <u>Robinson</u>, 153 Wn.2d at 695-96, Boseski's motion is time barred under RCW 10.73.090(1) unless her judgment is facially invalid. <u>Id</u>.

Her judgment is valid because the trial court had authority to sentence Boseski to second and third degree assault—or as <u>Coats</u> expresses it, the trial court's sentence was within its power. <u>Id</u>. at 135, 136. Unlike <u>West</u> and <u>Tobin</u>, Boseski's judgment does not demonstrate a sentence in excess of the duration allowed by statute: Boseski was sentenced to (1) ten months for second degree assault, which carries a maximum term of ten years, 7/9/09 RP 17; RCW 9A.20.021(1)(b); and (2) eights months for third degree assault, which carries a maximum term of five years, 7/9/09 RP 17; RCW 9A.20.021(1)(c).<sup>7</sup> Her judgment did not indicate a washed out prior conviction, <u>see</u>, e.g., <u>LaChapelle</u>, 153 Wn.2d at 6;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Boseski's convictions ran concurrently, 7/9/09 RP 17, and the record indicates that Boseski served only six months in prison, 7/7/11 RP 10.

a conviction for a nonexistent crime, <u>see</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Hinton</u>, 152 Wn.2d at 857; or that she was charged after the statute of limitations had run, <u>Stoudmire</u>, 141 Wn.2d at 354. Boseski's judgment also advised her that she could collaterally attack it and that the time limit was one year. CP 67.

While the "face" of Boseski's judgment includes charging documents, verdicts, and plea documents, <u>Coats</u>, 173 Wn.2d at 140, Boseski's plea documents are irrelevant because her judgment and sentence is facially valid, <u>see</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>id</u>. at 141-42 (citing <u>Hemenway</u>, 147 Wn.2d at 533); <u>McKiernan</u>, 165 Wn.2d at 782)("an invalid plea agreement cannot on its own overcome the one year time bar or render an otherwise valid judgment and sentence invalid.").

Boseski's judgment, however, is valid even if her plea statement is examined, as she explicitly pled guilty to the Second Amended Information's charges. 6/22/09 RP 7. Notably, Count I in the Second Amended Information referenced RCW 9A.36.021(1)(c), which states that "A person is guilty of assault in the second degree if he or she, under circumstances not amounting to assault in the first degree: . . . *Assaults another with a deadly weapon*." CP 285 (emphasis added).

The State acknowledges that Boseski's factual statement did not mention a deadly weapon, but there is no doubt that a firearm was involved—as Boseski pointed her gun at Officer Driver. <u>Id</u>. at 267, 268 (Tumwater police officers also logged Boseski's handgun into evidence). Boseski wants her judgment and sentence to reflect actions that did not occur so that—apparently—she can find a job, <u>see</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, 7/7/11 RP 19—but her factual statement's failure to mention a deadly weapon will not undo her judgment because it is valid on its face.<sup>8</sup>

Any assertion that equitable tolling prevents application of RCW 10.73.090's one-year time bar is without merit. Appellant's Opening Brief (Appellant's Brief) at 10-13. "Equitable tolling is a remedy that permits a court to allow an action to proceed when justice requires it, even though a statutory time period has elapsed." In re Pers. Restraint of Bonds, 165 Wn.2d 135, 141, 196 P.3d 672 (2008)(citing In re Pers. Restraint of Carlstad, 150 Wn.2d 583, 593, 80 P.3d 587 (2003)). "However, any application of equitable tolling . . . must only be done in the narrowest of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> While <u>Coats</u> does not require a showing of prejudice to surpass the one-year bar, it notes that "We can find no case—and the petitioner has directed us to none—where we have actually *held* that prejudice need not be shown." <u>Coats</u>, 173 Wn.2d 142 (emphasis in original). Boseski is unable to show prejudice in this case because while RCW 9A.36.021(c) was not explicitly mentioned in Boseski's plea, Boseski <u>did</u> state that she was pleading guilty to Counts I and II as alleged in the Second Amended Information. CP 55; 6/22/09 RP 7. And as the trial court noted, it's clear that a firearm was involved. <u>See, e.g., CP 267</u>.

*circumstances and where justice requires.*" In re Pers. Restraint <u>Carter</u>, 172 Wn.2d 917, 929, 263 P.3d 1241 (2011)(emphasis added).<sup>9</sup> Boseski claims that "RCW 10.73.110 requires the court to advise the defendant of the time limit," Appellant's Brief at 11-12 and she is correct. But Boseski fails to acknowledge that RCW 10.73.110 requires notice "At the time *judgment and sentence* is pronounced. . . ." <u>Id</u>. (emphasis added). Her judgment included such notice. CP 67.

Additionally, Boseski alleges that she was unable to read her judgment and that the judge and her attorney did not advise her of the time bar. Appellant's Brief at 13. Not only is her claim inconsistent with the record, CP 67-68, but it also relies on facts alleged in Boseski's declaration, CP 127. Boseski's reliance on her declaration to show that her judgment is facially invalid flies in the face of Washington's jurisprudence regarding collateral attacks: if the defendant "must resort to external documents in the hope of rendering his judgment and sentence invalid, then the judgment and sentence cannot be invalid on its face." <u>Clark</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 587-88.

b. RCW 10.73.100(1) does not apply because the EMS's report is not newly discovered evidence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> In <u>Bonds</u>, for instance, all but three justices agreed that equitable tolling did not apply when "the court's inaction in reviewing his PRP to determine its merit left him in a situation where his counsel, once appointed, court not discover the public trial issue until after the statute of limitation had run." <u>Id</u>. at 144.

RCW 10.73.100 lists six enumerated exceptions to the oneyear time limit: (1) newly discovered evidence uncovered with reasonable diligence; (2) facial or as applied unconstitutionality of the statute under which the petitioner was convicted; (3) double jeopardy; (4) insufficient evidence to support the conviction (if the petitioner plead not guilty); (5) a sentence in excess of the trial court's jurisdiction; and (6) a significant and material change in the law that applies retroactively. RCW 10.73.100.

In determining whether the exemption for newly discovered evidence applies, courts employ the same standard as that applicable to motions for new trial based on newly discovered evidence. In re Pers. Restraint of Lord, 123 Wn.2d 296, 319, 868 P.2d 835 (1994); see In re Pers. Restraint of Jeffries, 114 Wn.2d 485, 493, 789 P.2d 731 (1990)(citing State v. Williams, 96 Wn.2d 215, 223, 634 P.2d 868 (1981)). The evidence (1) must be such that it would probably change the result of the trial; (2) must have been discovered since trial; (3) must not have been discoverable before trial by the exercise of due diligence; (4) must be material; and (5) must not be merely cumulative or impeaching. Lord, 123 Wn.2d at 320 (quoting <u>Williams</u>, 96 Wn.2d at 223).

The defendant in <u>Lord</u>, for example, presented a doctor's report that analyzed procedures and tests available prior to the

defendant's trial, retested certain exhibits, and expressed disagreement with some of the State Crime Laboratory's conclusions. <u>Id</u>. at 320. Refusing to consider this evidence as an exception to RCW 10.73.100(1), <u>Lord</u> stated that "in addition to the fact that this evidence was available before trial, it is also only cumulative or impeaching." <u>Id</u>.

The same is true in this case. Boseski alleges that her motion is not time barred because an Emergency Medical Services (EMS) report<sup>10</sup> states that she went to the hospital (which, she claims, she did not do). Appellant's Brief at 13 (citing RCW 10.73.100(1)). But Boseski's argument misses the point. First, Boseski fails to address any of the required five prongs. <u>See, e.g.,</u> <u>Williams,</u> 96 Wn.2d at 223. Second, the EMS's report has no bearing on Boseski's guilty plea and is immaterial.

Third, Boseski could have discovered it before pleading guilty because the report was created over five months before she entered her plea. <u>Compare</u> 6/22/09 RP 3, 7 with CP 134. Finally, the EMS's report—at most—indicates inconsistencies between the police officers' and the EMS's reports. <u>Compare id.</u> at 271 with id. at 135. While the reports' inconsistencies may constitute

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> It appears as though Boseski's argument arises from the portion of the EMS report that states "P/ Exam, v/s, Pt transported via TPD to SPH [Providence St. Peter's Hospital]." CP 135.

impeaching evidence, evidence used to impeach does not constitute new evidence under RCW 10.73.100(1).<sup>11</sup>

#### 2. <u>Boseski's petition is "mixed" because it contains at</u> <u>least one claim that is time barred—and it therefore</u> <u>must be dismissed.<sup>12</sup></u>

If a petition is "mixed," that is, it raises both untimely claims and claims that are exempt from the time limit under RCW 10.73.100, it must be dismissed. <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Stenson</u>, 150 Wn.2d 207, 220, 76 P.3d 241 (2003); <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Hankerson</u>, 149 Wn.2d 695, 702, 72 P.3d 703 (2003). The court in this circumstance will not analyze all claims to determine which are timely and which are not—and it will not decide timely claims. <u>Hankerson</u>, 149 Wn.2d at 703. If a petition is mixed, courts will only address challenges to the facial validity of the judgment and sentence or to the trial court's jurisdiction. RCW 10.73.090(1); <u>Stenson</u>, 150 Wn.2d at 220.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> If the court considers Boseski's judgment invalid on its face or if it holds that the EMS's report constitutes an exception under RCW 10.73.100(1), Boseski must <u>still</u> show that she was actually and substantially prejudiced by constitutional error or that her trial suffered from a fundamental defect of a nonconstitutional nature that inherently resulted in a complete miscarriage of justice. <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Elmore</u>, 162 Wn.2d 236, 251, 172 P.3d 335 (2007); <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Cook</u>, 114 Wn.2d 802, 810-12, 792 P.2d 506 (1990). Given that Boseski pointed her gun at Officer Driver and that police took her gun into evidence, it's unlikely that Boseski can show that she was either "actually and substantially prejudiced" or that her plea resulted in a "complete miscarriage of justice."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Although this is an appeal of the trial court's denial of a collateral attack, it is essentially a Personal Restraint Petition. Under CrR 7.8 (c)(2), the court should have transferred the motion to the Court of Appeals as a PRP rather than addressing and denying it.

The <u>Stenson</u> court opined that:

A petition which relies upon RCW 10.73,100 to overcome the one-year time bar in RCW 10,73,090 cannot be based upon any grounds other than the six grounds in RCW 10.73.100. Stenson's [the defendant's] claim that there is newly discovered evidence . . . does not satisfy the conditions of RCW 10.73.090 and is not within the exceptions delineated in RCW 10.73.100. Therefore, Stenson's petition is "mixed." In Stoudmire, we concluded that when a claim falls outside RCW 10.73.100 the petitioner may not take advantage of the exceptions in RCW 10.73.100. . . . We recently affirmed our holding in Stoudmire in . . . Hankerson . . ., indicating that "if a personal restraint petition claiming multiple grounds for relief is filed after the one-year period of RCW 10.73.090 expires, and the court determines that at least one of the claims is time barred, the petition must be dismissed."

<u>Stenson</u>, 150 Wn.2d at 220 (emphasis added) (internal cites omitted).

In this case, Boseski's claims regarding equitable tolling and newly discovered evidence are without merit. <u>See</u> argument briefed at pages 13-14, 15-17. She also raises the following arguments:

"The Court's Acceptance of Ms. Boseski's Guilty Plea Constitutes Manifest Injustice," Appellant's Brief at 14;

"Ms. Boseski's Guilty Plea was not Knowingly, Intelligently, and Voluntarily Entered Because It Lacks a Factual Basis," <u>id</u>. at 15; "Ms. Boseski did not Plead Guilty to the Elements of 9A.36.021(c) and Notice of the Criminal Elements<sup>13</sup> of the Offense is Required," <u>id</u>. at 22;

"Ms. Boseski's Plea was not Knowing, Voluntary, and Intelligent when Ms. Boseski Lacked Competency at Arraignment," <u>id</u>. at 24;

"Acceptance of Ms. Boseski's Plea, While She was Mentally III and Unable to Understand the Charges, Constituted Manifest Injustice," <u>id</u>. at 29; and

"Ms. Boseski Received Ineffective Assistance from Counsel, Causing Manifest Injustice," <u>id</u>. at 34.

None of these arguments allege that Boseski's judgment is

facially invalid or entered by a court without competent jurisdiction,

which may be considered even if a petition is mixed, <u>Stenson</u>, 150

Wn.2d at 220, and none fit within RCW 10.73.100's six exceptions,

id. Boseski's petition is therefore mixed—as it contains at least one

claim that is time barred—and must be dismissed.<sup>14</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Boseski also says that notice of a statute's "critical elements" is required. Appellant's Brief at 22. Given her argument's context and the cases Boseski cites, it appears that her reference to "criminal elements" was unintended.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> In light of Boseski's mixed petition, it is worth mentioning that there is no indication that the legislature intended an invalidity in the judgment to waive the time bar for <u>all</u> untimely claims regardless of whether they relate to the judgment's validity. <u>Coats</u>, 173 Wn.2d at 170 (Stephens, J., concurring). Similarly, if a petition raises a claim that fits one of the six enumerated exceptions to the time bar listed in RCW 10.73.100, courts will only consider that specific claim. <u>Id</u>. Boseski's judgment is facially valid and she has not raised a claim under RCW 10.73.100—but even if she had, the court's floodgates would remain shut as to her other untimely claims, preventing their consideration.

#### 3. <u>Boseski's remaining arguments are frivolous because</u> <u>they are timed barred, mixed, and—for purposes of</u> <u>this section—do not apply to her case</u>.

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